
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 28TH JULY, 2015 AT 

10.00 AM
Venue - NORFOLK ROOM, THE 

CONFERENCE SUITE, DEREHAM

Members of the Working Group

Mr T R Carter
Mrs L.S. Turner

Mr M. A. Wassell (Chairman)

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Member Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: 22 July 2015

Public Document Pack



Local Plan Working Group
Tuesday, 28th July, 2015

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 1 - 13

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 May 2015.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive any apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not to 
participate in the whole of an agenda item to which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. In the interests of transparency, Members 
may also wish to declare any other interests that they have, in relation to 
an agenda item that supports the Nolan principles detailed within the 
Code of Conduct.

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the 
meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS (STANDING ITEM) 

8. DUTY TO COOPERATE (STANDING ITEM) 

9. LOCAL PLAN PROGRESS 14 - 23

Report by the Planning Policy Team Leader.

10. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday, 29 
September at 10.00am in the Anglia Room.



Local Plan Working Group
Tuesday, 28th July, 2015

Page(s)
herewith



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP 
 

Held on Wednesday, 27 May 2015 at 10.00 am in 
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  
Mr T R Carter 
 

Mrs L.S. Turner 
 

 
Also Present  
Mr R. Atterwill 
Mr C G Carter 
Mr S H Chapman-Allen 
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
 

Mr P.J. Duigan 
Mr A.P. Joel 
Mr K. Martin 
Mr F.J. Sharpe 

 
In Attendance  
Mr Roger Atterwill - Chairman of Swanton Morley Parish 

Council 
Julie Britton - Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Feng Li - Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita for 

Breckland Council) 
Phil Mileham - Deputy Planning Manager 
Sarah Robertson - Planning Policy Officer (Capita for 

Breckland Council) 
Iain Withington - Planning Policy Team Leader (Capita for 

Breckland Council) 
Simon Wood - Interim Business Manager (Capita) 

 
 
 Action 

By 
 

Chairman  
  

 Vice-Chairman in the Chair. 
 

 

19/15 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2015 were agreed as a 

correct record. 
  

 

20/15 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)   
  
 An apology for absence was received from the Chairman for the reason 

that he was on other Council business. 
   

 

21/15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 3)   
  
 None. 

 
  

 

Public Document Pack

1

Agenda Item 1



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

2 

 Action 
By 
 

22/15 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 None. 

  
 

23/15 NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5)  

 

  
 Councillors M Chapman-Allen, S Chapman-Allen, P Duigan, C Carter, A 

Joel, K Martin and F Sharpe. 
 
Mr Roger Atterwill, the Chairman of Swanton Morley Parish Council, 
was also in attendance. 
  

 

24/15 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) (ITEM 6)   
  
 None. 

  
 

25/15 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7)   
  
 The Deputy Planning Manager provided Members with an update on the 

progress of Neighbourhood Plans for Croxton, Brettenham & 
Kilverstone, Kenninghall, Mattishall and Attleborough.   
 
As far as Attleborough was concerned, he had been in contact with the 
Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan Team and an update would be 
provided at the next Local Plan Working Group meeting. 
 
An expression of interest had been received from Swanton Morley 
Parish Council.  It was explained that further information had been 
requested from the Parish in order to enable the notification process to 
commence and that this was expected imminently. 
 
The recent changes to delegations would make the process of agreeing 
the Pan area much quicker. 
 
Councillor Martin advised that Attleborough’s Neighbourhood Plan had 
come to a standstill and the reasons for this were explained. 
 
Roger Atterwill asked if there had been any progress on the 
appointment of the Neighbourhood Plan Officer. Members were 
informed that the post would be advertised in the next few weeks. 
Referring to the expression of interest, Mr Atterwill advised that he had 
found the information required very tedious and he intended to attend 
these LPWG meetings in future to provide feedback from a Parish 
Council perspective.   
  

 

26/15 DUTY TO COOPERATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 8)   
  
 The Deputy Planning Manager advised that a County wide Duty to 

Cooperate Forum had been set up to discuss strategic planning issues.  
This Forum had not met since the last LPWG.  The next meeting was on 
9 July 2015; therefore, a more detailed update would be provided next 
time. 
  

 

2



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

3 

 Action 
By 
 

27/15 OPEN SPACE ASSESSMENT (AGENDA ITEM 9)   
  
 A short presentation was provided informing Members of the findings of 

the Open Space Study.  The full report had been included in the agenda 
pack together with the Open Space Assessment 2015 at Appendix A 
and the updated parish schedule at Appendix B. These would also be 
published on the Council’s web site in due course.  
 
The Senior Planning Policy Officer provided the Group with a detailed 
overview on the methodology and findings of the Open Space 
Assessment so that the findings and recommendations could be used to 
develop relevant policies and provide evidence base to support the 
preparation of the emerging Local Plan. 
 
The study sought to evaluate the quantity, quality and accessibility of 
open space and recreational land provision in Breckland and 
recommend standards and effective mechanisms in order for 
appropriate open space provision to be secured so that future needs 
could be met.  The study involved five key stages, which included: 
 
 

• Step 1 - Identifying local needs through reviewing the 
implication of existing strategies, existing policies/provision 
standards and consulting with local communities; 

• Step 2 - Audit local provision of both children’s play and outdoor 
sports pitches;   

• Step 3 - Setting provision standards and determining quality, 
quantity and accessibility standards; 

• Step 4 - Application of Provision Standards to identify 
deficiencies or surplus in terms of accessibility, quality and 
quantity; 

• Step 5 - Applying and testing the effectiveness of the current 
policy to provide options and recommendations for the future 
provision of open space across the district.  

 
The process had also integrated other important elements, such as 
assessing potential Local Green Space as highlighted at section 1.8 of 
the report, and providing a mechanism for off-site developer 
contributions in accordance with the provision standard.  
 
The study had identified a total of 792 sites within the Breckland District 
which met the PPG17 typology criteria (which was still considered 
relevant in the absence of new guidance from the NPPF). This was an 
increase in the number of sites from 513 in the 2007 survey and 534 in 
the subsequent 2010 update, through a thorough identification process 
which involved a comprehensive desktop review and parish 
consultation. A Parish Schedule has been produced to record all open 
space provision across the district and as a result of the review, see 
Appendix B. 
 
Breckland currently used the National Playing Field Association’s 
(NPFA, now known as Field in Trust) six acre standard, which 
recommended the provision of 2.4 hectares (6 acres) of open space per 
1,000 population which comprised of 0.8 hectares of children’s play and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

4 

 Action 
By 
 

1.6 hectares of outdoor sports pitches.  
 
Applying the Field in Trust (FIT) guidance and reflecting the rural nature 
of Breckland - the study had recommended a provision of 1.76 ha 
outdoor sports and 0.8 children’s play per 1,000 population. This 
constituted 2.56 hectares of open space provision per 1,000 population.  
 
The assessment of open space provision had been based on three key 
criteria: quantity, quality and accessibility.  
 
In terms of quantity, based on 2012 sub-national population projections, 
there would be a need for approximately 393 ha of total play space to 
the year 2037. Currently, with the exception of the Parish of Lexham, 
every Parish across the District was deficient in children’s play space, 
whilst 30% of the Parishes in Breckland met the FIT outdoor sports 
standard. It also revealed that 70% of the parishes in the District did not 
meet the identified benchmarking standard of 2.56 ha per 1,000 
population.  
 
The five market towns of Attleborough, Thetford, Dereham, Swaffham 
and Watton had the largest deficiencies in total playing space compared 
to the Field in Trust (FIT) standard. The five market towns also had an 
average or above average score in terms of quality, despite having a 
deficiency in the amount of space. 
 
The analysis had revealed that 80% of dwellings in the district were 
within 1.2km of an outdoor sports facility.  
 
A map highlighting the deficiencies with the exception of Lexham was 
displayed. 
 
A detailed summary was provided and the recommendations based on 
the three criteria, quantity, quality and accessibility were explained. 
 
The following questions, concerns were raised: 
 

• What had been the level of correspondence with parishes in 
relation to play equipment as most believed that their equipment 
was up-to-date. 
 
As part of the study, consultation had been had with all parish 
councils so that up-to-date information could be provided.  This 
information would be fed into the Local Plan Policy at the next 
stage where Members would be able to make further comment. 

 

• Field in Trust (FIT) – does this cover a particular age range as it 
seems to be a ‘one size fits all’.  Also, what is this FIT standard? 

 
The Local Plan is a general policy and there are limitations but 
there has to be a starting point. Age limits had not been set and 
flexibility had been provided.  This policy was about quantity.  
Pages 63 & 64 of Appendix B informs the policy and evidence 
has been provided. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

5 

 Action 
By 
 

• Where did this data come from? 
 

ROSPA standards were used and the assessments were carried 
out by the Planning Policy Team. 

 

• Parking for play areas, is it counted separately or part as open 
space. 
 
Parking is considered as part of the open space provision. 

 

• The majority of play areas were initiated some time ago and 
taking a snap shot is not getting the whole picture.  Officers 
should talk to the parishioners as local people are aware of what 
is needed and what is best for their parish. 
 

• Was this survey/study carried out in an objective manner as 
Brettenham had no children provision? 
 
All parish councils had been asked to respond to this study.  A 
questionnaire was provided together with a map that identified 
all open space in their area and whether any new areas should 
be added. 

 

• Many play areas/provisions in Breckland are owned by private 
enterprises.  Was this study carried just on Breckland owned 
land/open space? 

 

• Parishes rely on contributions from developers for open 
space/play provision, will this study change this? 
 
This study has addressed this issue and is a huge challenge to 
district councils as all have to accord to policy. 

 

• Lexham should not be used as a bench mark as most of the land 
is privately owned including the play area. 

 

• Breckland Council do not have a CIL which makes it difficult and 
very complicated.  Parishes need to be aware of what their 
needs are and how they can be met. 
 

• 22 hectares of green in a particular parish which is very 
overgrown and cannot be used as open space.  Had this been 
included in the survey? 
 
This green would be classified as amenity open space. 

 

• In Garboldisham there is only one piece of land that has come 
forward for 5 dwellings.  Is this process asking parishes to 
produce a document that may not be relevant to them? 

 
Parish councils need to bear in mind their deficiencies – it’s like 
a shopping list and all parishes should be doing this. 

 
In response to the above concerns, the Senior Planning Policy Officer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

6 

 Action 
By 
 

was unsure whether Members had been aware of the email sent to all 
parish councils by Mike Brennan, the Operations and Contract Manager 
asking for specific requests as to what was needed in their 
communities.  The Chairman raised concerns as she had not seen sight 
of this email and felt that all Ward Members should have been included 
in this correspondence.  She asked if this email could be re-sent as 
some villages had one parish clerk that covered many parishes and on 
occasion such information was not forthcoming.  Councillor Duigan had 
not seen the said email either and asked what the timescales were for 
this work.  He pointed out that Dereham Town Council was going to 
carry out a study/survey of its play areas itself but had put this work off 
until after the Election.  He also felt that parishes/towns needed to have 
some idea of where developments were going to take place. 
 
Mr Atterwill concurred with the above comments and urged the Officers 
to ensure that Ward Representatives were included in such 
correspondence.  He was very concerned about how this policy was 
going forward and asked what had happened to Localism.  He felt that a 
Local Plan was needed with sub-plans and local people should be 
involved through the whole process.  This seemed, in his opinion, to be 
a very ‘top down’ policy and he would have preferred parishes to drive 
this forward rather than policy. 
 
The Deputy Planning Manager explained that all the email was trying to 
do was to ask Parish Councils to give thought to developing projects in 
their area to assist the Council when seeking planning obligations with 
developers.  There was not a fixed timescale for such projects to be 
submitted but what the Council was aiming for was to come up with a 
defensible position going forward to defend any proposals for open 
space sought through the development management process.    The 
Interim Business Manager pointed out that he had spent a great deal of 
time at Planning Inquiries and in order to meet CIL regulations, 
evidence base is absolutely crucial and this work was a starting point 
and there had to be a connection between planning policy and what the 
parishes wanted as well as being in correlation with S106 Agreements.  
 
The Chairman felt that Ward Members could not be an influence if not 
included in any such correspondence. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Leader stated that if parishes could not 
demonstrate the need a policy could not be created.  How the monies 
could be spent was a different matter altogether and he felt that the 
debate was deviating from what the report was trying to achieve. 
 
It was agreed that Ward Members would be forwarded the recent 
correspondence to Parish Councils regarding open space projects, and 
that they would be included in all Parish Council correspondence in 
future. 
 
It was RESOLVED that the findings and recommendations of this study 
be used as evidence base to support the preparation of the emerging 
Local Plan. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PM/ 
Planning 
Policy 
Team 
 

 
 
 
 
 

6



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

7 

 Action 
By 
 

28/15 LOCAL SERVICE CENTRES TOPIC PAPER (AGENDA ITEM 10)   
  
 The Planning Policy Officer presented the report.  Members were 

reminded that Local Service Centres (LSCs) had been discussed at the 
previous meeting in March 2015. Through the Core Strategy, 14 Local 
Service Centres had been designated, four of which received a housing 
allocation. The remaining 10 had been designated for service protection 
and enhancement. 
 
The Local Plan had the opportunity to review Local Service Centres and 
a topic paper had been provided at appendix A (starting at page 140 of 
the agenda pack). The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
allowed a greater degree of flexibility to define LSCs; however, any 
allocation needed to be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. 
 
At the last Local Plan Working Group (LPWG) the way in which service 
centres had been defined was discussed. LSCs were previously defined 
based on a population of over 1000 and access to five services and 
facilities: 
 

• School 
• Employment Opportunity 
• Community Facility 
• Shop/Post Office 
• Public Transport 
 

There had been support for this approach through the Issues and 
Options consultation with the removal of the population threshold. The 
last LPWG also requested consideration of health facilities and access 
to services and facilities located over Breckland’s borders. These had 
both been considered within the topic paper.  
 
In relation to health – there were limited doctors’ surgeries within rural 
parishes. Nine out of 107 rural parishes include a doctor’s surgery each 
serving a very large area. The optimum patient size is 1,800 patients 
per full time GP. This was larger than the majority of villages. Details 
have been provided by NHS England looking into capacity of existing 
surgeries, through the issues and options consultation and also the cost 
of expansion. 
 
In relation to access to services and facilities outside of the District, the 
work had focused around appropriate walking distances and taken into 
account guidance from the Institute of Highways and Transport. This 
sets the walking distance at 1,200m. It had also considered the ability to 
protect services and facilities from change of use. 
 
The 14 LSCs which were designated previously had been 
recommended to be maintained as such. In addition, another 8 villages 
have been recommended for designation. This included Great 
Hockham; whilst it does not contain all the services and facilities to be 
classified as a service centre, the village had requested further growth 
and extensions to their settlement boundary through the Local Plan. The 
village already had a primary school, community facilities and public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

8 

 Action 
By 
 

transport; however, only limited employment opportunities existed and it 
had no shop. Buses operated to Thetford and Watton which offered 
employment and shopping. 
 
The Planning Policy Officer advised that she intended to send this 
information to Parish Councils and Ward Members following this 
meeting for verification. 
 
The Chairman pointed out that on page 145 of the document it showed 
that Scarning did not have a community facility; this was incorrect. 
 
Councillor Carter pointed out that Saham Toney had been listed as 
having a shop which again was incorrect and advised that the Parish 
Council did not believe that Saham Toney should be classed as a 
Service Centre village.  Members were informed that Saham Toney did 
not meet all the criteria but it was in relation to Watton.  Through 
sending this information out, all these issues would be moved forward. 
 
Councillor Duigan did not like the service centre methodology; this 
information, in his opinion, was just a snap shot and had not taken into 
account the fact that a shop could be opened tomorrow in one of the 
villages yet another could be closed.  He also felt that all development 
had been concentrated in the towns and would prefer villages to be 
stimulated and encouraged to become service centres.  In response, 
the Planning Policy Team Leader explained that the Team had taken on 
board Members wishes at the last meeting of more rural development 
and the definition of how service centres should be classified had been 
revisited.  An indicative spread sheet of what this could look like had 
also been presented at that time.  All of these processes would 
eventually feed into one another and when it all came together, the 
Team together with the LPWG would be in a position to review what that 
would look like on the ground.  There was still a considerable amount of 
factors to take into account. 
 
Councillor Chapman-Allen highlighted the comment made by 
Garboldisham in relation to criteria.  The Parish Council believed that 
this was a tunnelled view.  There was only one business in the village 
and there was not any public transport to Norwich, Diss or Thetford.  As 
far as the education was concerned, East Harling still had further growth 
to come and the school was already full to capacity as was 
Garboldisham.  This was a difficult situation to be in as education did 
not receive any monies until the houses were built.  The Planning Policy 
Officer advised that all information in relation to existing employment in 
parishes had been looked at via the Anglia Revenues Partnership in 
respect of business rate payments; all these concerns had already been 
taken into account.  With regard to the schools, the Planning Policy 
Team was in consultation with Norfolk County Council and an update of 
provision and capacity was being provided. 
 
Councillor Joel felt that the quality and quantity of public transport 
should be looked at too.  The schools in his area were also full to 
capacity and education, health and transport were all just tick boxes but 
in the real world it did not work. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
SR/IW 
 
 
SR/IW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

9 

 Action 
By 
 

The Chairman mentioned the Board that she attended which was 
looking at health issues in the area and in Norfolk as a whole.  
Transport issues would be looked at but it was a big piece of work. 
 
Councillor Duigan asked if someone from the education department 
could be invited to a future meeting to come and explain capacity issues 
and their predictions and how they actually work their figures.  Members 
were informed that the purpose of planning was to allow everyone else 
to plan and try and address all these issues – everything was plan led 
and all would eventually use the Local Plan.  
 
Mr Atterwill was pleased that there was so much local knowledge at 
these meetings.  However, as a Service Centre village he could not 
remember being asked about transport issues.  He felt it would have 
been better to send out a little more detail of local issues to these 
service centres in relation to health, transport and education gathering a 
good piece of local evidence to help shape the Local Plan.  Members 
were informed that this would happen later on in the year what the 
Team did not want to happen was to consult parishes on little bits of 
consultation. The Group was reminded that the Local Plan was still in 
draft. 
 
The Chairman suggested a village appraisal. 
 
It was agreed that an officer from the Education department would be 
invited to a future meeting. 
 
RESOLVED that subject to the aforementioned factual changes, the 
content of the report be noted and further views on the emerging 
approach to Local Service Centres be considered in the next round of 
consultation on the Local Plan. 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IW 
 

 

29/15 LOCAL PLAN SITE ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY (AGENDA ITEM 
11)  

 

  
 The Planning Policy Team Leader presented the report.  The report had 

been included on page 209 of the agenda pack with the topic paper 
detailing the approach starting on page 216. 
 
As part of the Local Plan process the Council had received 519 potential 
sites for assessment. The approach proposed to the assessment of 
these sites had been detailed in the topic paper. This topic paper would 
be used as part of the evidence base and was designed to be 
transparent. 
 
Planning guidance tells us that the assessments should identify all sites 
(and broad locations) regardless of the amount of development needed. 
This would then enable an identification of sites and locations suitable 
for the required development and enable a consistent basis for 
comparison between sites based on evidence and evaluation. 
 
The broad stages of the work done thus far and the proposed 
methodology had been set out in the topic paper appended and had 
been designed to be based on national planning principles, be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

10 

 Action 
By 
 

transparent, be consistent and enable unsustainable sites to be filtered 
out.  
 
In terms of residential the proposed methodology followed that 
advocated in the NPPF and planning practice guidance which 
advocates that Local Planning Authorities should prepare a Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA). 
 
It had been proposed that the 2014 SHLAA update be updated further 
to include all the new sites submitted from last year and through the 
Issues and Options consultation which could be supported by the 
emerging settlement strategy which Members provided a steer on at the 
March 2015 meeting. This process had already started.   The original 
SHLAA only focussed on the Core Strategy, the new approach was to 
therefore widen it to include the emerging settlements which was 
discussed in March and have just previously updated this Group in the 
previous agenda item.  
 
Updating the SHLAA provides the maximum deliverable/developable 
housing within existing urban areas and the amount of development 
required outside of the existing settlement boundaries if the housing 
target was to be met. This target had not yet been set so there was an 
element of iteration involved in the entire process.  
 
The SHLAA approach was to use a site threshold of 0.1 ha and above 
within and or adjacent to appropriate settlements. This was a lower 
threshold than that proposed in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 
Page 225 of Appendix 1, states that sites of 0.25 ha and above should 
be assessed, though appropriate plan makers may wish to consider 
alternative thresholds. The smaller threshold was considered 
appropriate not only for consistency reasons but also reflects the rural 
nature and potentially allowing policy considerations to align with 
potential community aspirations.  
 
Work was still on going in this area and so far 274 sites had been 
identified that could be suitable for development. The intention was that 
these sites would then go through further appraisals as reasonable 
alternatives. This included informal consultation with stakeholders such 
as utilities, education and highways as well as site visits/desktop 
analysis and Sustainability appraisals.  Site appraisals would be 
detailed on a site proforma which considers such items as, site 
description, current use, environmental value, agricultural quality, flood 
risk, landscape, biodiversity, heritage, access, planning permissions, 
scope for alternative use, amenity and access to utilities etc.  
 
The sites would then be assessed against the target and informed by 
the Site Assessment so that choices can be made.  
 
Key exclusions will be those sites in open countryside – i.e outside 
policy  

• Those sites not available.  

• Those which would have a negative impact on protected sites/ 
heritage 

• Those which were in flood zone 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

11 

 Action 
By 
 

 
As the process was iterative and clearly evolving in terms of hierarchy 
and the setting of a housing target the intention was to keep under 
review any allocated numbers   (informed by capacity, water cycle, 
SFRA etc – clearly running ahead of evidence).   
If at any stage Objectively Assessed Needs (OAN) could not be met 
then the spatial distribution would have to be reviewed and/or the site 
selection criteria in the first instance.  
 
The Council also had a legal duty to plan for all sectors of the 
community and gypsy and travellers were no exception.  Just recently, 
Maldon District Council’s Local Plan had just been found unsound 
because its provision for gypsies and travellers had not met the OAN. 
 
The proposed approach was to consult in the Issues & Options stage 
and it had been proposed to build on the 8 criteria put forward which 
had been generally supported  (proximity to services, access, previously 
used land, visual impact, infrastructure, flood risk, landscape 
designations and access to services such as health). The process of 
reviewing temporary permissions (in line with criteria) was also 
generally supported and the intention was to undertake an easement of 
these. 
  
Members were reminded that the Gypsies and Travellers 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) suggested that a significant 
proportion of accommodating need in the first 5 years could be met 
through regularising temporary existing sites. With only two sites being 
put forward it had been recommended that this was an appropriate 
methodology at this stage; however, no assurance could be given as to 
whether the Council would be in a position to fulfil the full identified 
need. 
 
In terms of open space – the open space study reviewed the 
requirements of Local Green Space (LGS) designation and set out 
requirements for identifying LGS.  It was not proposed to deviate from 
this.  
 
Also, in terms of open space any new sites that have been put forward 
would be designated if they had significant quality and value as sports 
facilities, parks, gardens, green corridors, amenity spaces, play areas, 
allotments, or cemeteries. 
 
As far as employment was concerned, again the approach here would 
be to put forward in the Issues and Options. It had been proposed that 
employment sites should be of a scale in keeping with surroundings, not 
detract from residential amenity or not harm character/landscape etc.  
 
The NPPF tells us to adopt a similar approach to residential sites so the 
proposed approach here would be no different (i.e use proforma and 
Site Assessment to inform options/ alternatives). 
 
Through the allocations it was proposed to review the existing sites 
where the employment growth study identified an oversupply and new 
sites put forward in order to align the employment with the proactive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

12 

 Action 
By 
 

economic vision of the district. 
 
Emerging evidence such as the A11 Growth Corridor study would also 
be used to inform this Site Assessment methodology. 
 
Councillor Duigan stated that if he was a land agent or developer he 
would be aiming to ‘slip in’ an application now and asked if this 
document provided the Council with any defence.  The Planning Policy 
Team Leader explained that this document would be going out to public 
consultation and comments on the assessment process would be 
welcomed.  There would be challenges and he would not be surprised 
if, during this process, sites were put forward; however, the document 
would get stronger as the process progressed and it would eventually 
become more definitive. 
 
The Deputy Planning Manager advised that this document was simply a 
methodology ending up with a ‘beauty parade’ of sites for the Local 
Plan, and that overall, more sites were likely to be available than would 
be required to allocate.  The Planning Policy Team Leader pointed out 
that when it came to the allocations, the Team would also be looking at 
completions and commitments. 
 
Councillor Martin referred to the GTAA and mentioned the existing sites 
in Attleborough that he felt could be expanded. 
 
Councillor Carter mentioned the gypsy and traveller sites that he had 
visited with Councillor Gould which were quite large and, in his opinion, 
could be halved.  He asked if this methodology had been considered.  
Members were informed that there was a standard size but it was 
dependent on who managed the site.  The Team would be visiting 
individual sites in due course. 
 
Councillor Joel asked if Norfolk County Council had a dedicated Gypsy 
& Traveller Liaison Officer.  The Planning Policy Team Leader said that 
he had already been in touch with the said Officer who was a font of all 
knowledge and all relevant information had been collated. 
 
Mr Atterwill asked if there was a timescale for parishes for this land 
coming forward as he was concerned about Swanton Morley’s 
Neighbourhood Plan.  Members were informed that the intention was to 
carry out the site assessments then the information would be brought 
back to this Group.  Anyone preparing a Neighbourhood Plan would 
have to work with the Planning Policy Team who would assist with the 
methodology to make the Plans sound - it would be a process of joint 
working.  Mr Atterwill felt that his question had not been answered in 
relation to the timescale.  He would be very happy to work with the 
Team but under the Localism Act it should be about local peoples’ 
wishes.  
 
Members were informed that the timescale would be 
November/December 2015.  Swanton Morley would end up with a 
housing target but a discussion would need to be had.   
 
It was agreed that the Deputy Planning Manager would discuss matters 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PM 

 

12



Local Plan Working Group 
27 May 2015 

 
 

13 

 Action 
By 
 

further with Mr Atterwill following this meeting. 
 
Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen felt that Neighbourhood Plans should 
ideally follow after the Local Plan.  The Planning Policy Team Leader 
pointed out that Neighbourhood Plans had the opportunity to influence 
the Local Plan. 
 
RESOLVED that the proposed methodology be agreed and be used to 
support the assessment of sites to go forward to the forthcoming 
consultation on the Local Plan. 
  

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.05 pm       CHAIRMAN 

13



Report of: 

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Executive Member for Growth 

To: Local Plan Working Group 28.07.2015 

Author: Iain Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader 

Subject: Local Plan progress 

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to update Members to enable discussion on the 
wider Local Plan Vision and the setting of the Strategic Options that the Plan will 
seek to address.   

Recommendation(s):  

1) That Members consider the contents of this report and provide views on the proposed
approach.

1.0 BACKGROUND 

Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on progress with the Local Plan and to 
present how previous discussions and the consultation responses are informing the Vision 
and Strategic Objectives, which the emerging plan will seek to address.  

1.2 Following the Issues and Options consultation on the emerging Local Plan Issues and 
Options between November 2014 and January 2015, a number of reports and areas have 
been discussed at Local Plan Working Group (LPWG). Informed debate has been had 
around the consultation responses, the emerging evidence, sustainable development in 
Breckland, the approach to setting a housing target, site assessment methodology, 
settlement hierarchy and a steer has been given on the direction the spatial strategy should 
take. Further discussions have taken place around the wider issues that Breckland faces 
and how the Local Plan should develop in order to address these.  These discussions have 
helped inform along with the consultation responses and national planning framework the 
direction that the emerging plan is now taking.    

1.3 As such, the emerging building blocks of the Local Plan are: 

a. Identifying the settlement hierarchy of the district
b. Sets out the vision, spatial objectives and future role, function of each of the tiers in

the settlement hierarchy
c. Identifies the level of housing and employment development across the settlement

hierarchy
d. Sets out the strategic polices for the district.

1.4 We are now at the stage where there is an opportunity to inform the development with a 
high level vision that encompasses all the elements that should now act as key drivers for 
the growth and continued success of the district. This Vision is the long-term spatial vision 
that will create the framework for the development of policies and proposals to be included 
in the Local Plan. This vision will encompass local distinctiveness with a focus upon 
delivery in line with the context of positive growth that is outlined in the 2012 National 
Planning Policy Framework, (NPPF). The NPPF highlights that sustainable development is 

14

Agenda Item 9



about making economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. 
It gives expression to other strategies and programmes, including economic development, 
education, housing, health, environmental protection and culture.  

 
1.5 The emerging Vision presented below has been derived from the challenges, issues, 

opportunities and aspirations expressed by neighbourhoods, business and local 
organisations and builds on the responses received through the stakeholder consultations 
and the LPWG discussion. It is also important that it reflects the supporting priorities 
established in Breckland Council’s 2015 Corporate Plan, which has recently been 
published.  

 
1.6 The following keys points have been summarised from the consultation responses: 
 

 The Local Plan should recognise and reflect the dispersed and rural nature of the district 
and its vibrant communities; 

 There was need to reflect the wider economic objectives, more balanced economic and 
residential growth and updated economic aims rather just continued emphasis on 
specific settlements on the A11 Corridor. Economic growth should be spread across 
appropriate rural areas as well as directed to the market towns. A priority should be to 
support flexibly appropriate growth in rural areas to support services; 

 Through Neighbourhood Planning, local distinctiveness can be added to the planning 
process; 

 There should be greater emphasis on the environment and historic protection 
 There was a requirement for appropriate infrastructure provision; 
 There should be greater emphasis on enhancing and protecting existing infrastructure 

rather than a focus just on new infrastructure for new developments; 
 The delivery of health care and wellbeing should be reflected; 

 
 
1.7 The Council’s 2015 Corporate Plan sets a number of commitments around the following 

priorities: 
 

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; 
 Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way; 
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth; 
 Enabling stronger, more independent communities; 

 
1.8 The Strategic Vision for Breckland aims to articulate, in a spatial planning context where the 

Council wishes to be by the end of the plan period. 
 
1.9 The emerging STRATEGIC VISION  
 

By 2036 Breckland’s settlements and its wider rural area will have developed in a 
sustainable manner, building on its achievements and strengths to deliver an improved 
quality of life for its next generation of residents, an improved experience for its visitors 
and will be better placed to attract investment and jobs into the district. Breckland’s 
communities will be more sustainable, prosperous, safe, healthy and vibrant. The 
economy will be diversified and well connected, with a growing number of skilled 
workforce and population.  
 
New development will be directed to locations that are co-ordinated with transport 
provision, have good access to support existing services, community facilities and open 
space. A more balanced approach in housing development between rural and urban 
areas will have taken place outside the strategic growth locations of Attleborough and 

LPWG July 2015 final   

15



Thetford allowing for improved housing land supply from rural areas to help in facilitating 
planned growth and the infrastructure required to support development so that 
communities can grow in a sustainable and cohesive manner.  
 
Employment will not only be located to take advantage of the improved transport links 
offered by the A11 and A47 corridors and partnership work with adjacent local authorities 
but be directed to the most sustainable locations where they assist in providing the right 
balance between the local rural economy and that of the wider district and that of Greater 
Norwich. Local distinctness will be reflected through positive approaches towards the 
rural economy where appropriate development will be helping to sustain local services 
and identities, allowing them to grow and assist in helping rural communities adapt and 
thrive.   
 
Services and facilities will be supported and prized in rural village. A sense of local 
community and belonging will be maintained and reinforced, with decisions made at 
community level reflected in development proposals through the consideration of 
Neighbourhood Planning. 
 
Breckland will continue to prize the natural and built assets which make the district 
unique, and will protect them not only for their own sake, but also as a means of 
attracting investment and visitors to the area. Breckland’s towns and villages will have 
retained the characteristics that provide their character.  
 
Through working with stakeholders and partners strong working relationships will be 
delivering improved health care and wellbeing to meet the needs of the communities. 

 
Strategic Objectives  
 
1.10 In order to implement and deliver the Local Plan’s Vision, the following set of Strategic 

Objectives has been identified. These provide more specific direction to the spatial strategy 
and core polices that are developed in the following sections. 

 
1.11 The 16 strategic objectives for the implementation of this Local Plan require all new 

development to: 
 
Development in the Right Place 
 

1. Contribute to sustainable development through the reflection of the vision and aspirations 
of the local communities for Breckland; 

2. Assist in the creation and maintenance of inclusive, environmentally sustainable 
communities making the best and most efficient use of already developed land, buildings 
and natural resources; 

3. Make sure the majority development is focussed into areas where services are available, 
and where facilities can be supported; 

 
Meeting the Housing Need 

 
4. Deliver housing that meets the needs of the community and local economy through the 

concentration of development in the Strategic Urban Extensions of Attleborough and 
Thetford and where services and facilities can be supported within or adjacent to the 
market towns of  Dereham, Swaffham and Watton and the local service centres, whilst 
giving recognition to the need for development in rural areas to support rural 
communities and services; 

5. Support the development and maintenance of a balanced housing market and a variety 
of decent, affordable housing which meets the needs of all local people  and supports 

LPWG July 2015 final   

16



economic and community development; 
6. To encourage high quality, sustainable and safe design for places and spaces, in both 

the private and public realm, and which respects the character and local distinctiveness 
of Breckland’s communities; 

 
A Strong Economy  
 

7. Promote and support economic growth in sustainable and accessible locations in a 
flexible manor, diversifying the urban and rural economic base of the district to enable a 
prosperous mix where investment is encouraged, skills are developed and retained and 
new and existing business are supported; 

8. Enable the full potential of the A11 gateway and A47 corridor to contribute to economic 
growth of the district through investment, partnership work with neighbouring authorities 
and inward investment; 

9. Develop the local economy and meet local employment needs by providing a sufficient 
number and variety of employment locations and opportunities, at the same time 
ensuring the specific qualities of the local environment are not damaged; 

10. Promote the vitality and viability of town centres, including the night time economy and 
support the retention of existing rural services; 

11. Provide for improved broadband connections, especially in rural areas; 
 
A Rich Environment  
 

12. Contribute to the positive management of change in the historic environment, protecting, 
enhancing and maintaining the unique qualities and character of Breckland, the wider 
landscape and setting, and its designated and undesignated heritage assets for the 
future; 

13. Promote a safe and healthy environment, and high quality design minimising the impacts 
of development and ensuring quality of life and sense of place;  

 
Thriving Communities 
 

14. To improve the health and well-being of our communities by reducing health inequalities, 
promoting healthy living and supporting locally accessible, high quality health care;  

15. To protect and enhance community facilities and services and maximise accessibility to 
them; 

16. To encourage and facilitate a sense of community and belonging, and make sure 
decisions are made at community level as far as possible (through implementation of this 
plan and through Neighbourhood Planning). 

 
 

1.12 To accompany the setting of the Vision and the Spatial Objectives the Spatial Portrait has 
been updated with the aim of reflecting the issues and challenges that the district faces. 
This and the emerging early chapters of the Local Plan are included in Appendix 1.  

Neighbourhood Planning   

1.13 Feedback from the Issues and Options consultation was specific that the Local Plan 
needed to reflect local distinctness and especially recognise Neighbourhood Planning. At 
the time there were few communities in the district that were undertaking this route, 
however as interest and knowledge grows a number of communities have come forward 
with area designations and are starting to make progress in the areas they wish to focus 
on. In particular Attleborough and Mattishall Neighbourhood Planning groups have 

LPWG July 2015 final   

17



indicated that they wish to allocate employment sites and residential sites respectively. 
 
 
1.14 To be up to date Neighbourhood Plans need to align with the adopted strategic polices of 

the district. Breckland is in a unique situation of replacing these polices so it is in the best 
interests of the communities and the Council to seek ways in which to inform the emerging 
neighbourhood plans and ways to align  emerging polices. 

 
1.15 It remains the duty of the Local Plan to stipulate the quantum of development, however in 

order to assist the local communities in their aims there is a window of opportunity now and 
the approach that seems most suitable is for these groups that are sufficiently advanced is 
to adopt the Council’s emerging evidence and approach to site selection. The approach put 
forward is one of the Council carrying out the assessments using the devised methodology 
and sustainability appraisal and then enabling communities to use the Council’s framework 
to select and justify the preferred options in line with the housing target and the 
Neighbourhood Plan strategy. Any assessment of new sites or known alternatives 
after this stage will then be undertaken by the group using the framework.  

 
1.16 This suggested approach should ensure consistency in approach and support the 

groups in a proactive way. In return, the requirement is for the neighbourhood plan 
groups to support the Local Plan production through the signing of a Memorandum 
of Agreement to reflect this approach and ensure there are no opportunities for 
“gaps” to materialise between the respective documents. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 No options are presented for a decision. However, it is advised that Members note the 

content of this report and through discussion agree to use to support the preparation of the 
emerging Local Plan. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 The setting of the Vision and Strategic Options are an important part of the Local plan 

making process and is an important consideration in making timely progress with the Local 
Plan. It is the intention that the discussion at the Local Plan Working Group will feed into 
the Local Plan process so that the preferred options at the next stage are better informed.  

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The NPPF requires Local Authorities to prepare Local Plans and to be kept up to date. The 

emerging Local plan will replace the existing suit of development plan documents that form 
the adopted polices. 

  
4.2 This Local Plan Working Group meeting will enable members to fully engage in the process 

of generating the preferred options.  
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 

LPWG July 2015 final   

18



5.2.1 There are no direct legal risks resulting from the contents of this report; however, Local 
Planning documents need to be prepared in accordance with relevant Local Planning 
Regulations and Acts of Parliament, having regard to relevant considerations and case-law. 

 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.4 Corporate Priorities 
 

 This Local Plan aligns with the corporate priorty: Supporting Breckland to develop and 
thrive; Providing the right services, at the right time and the right way; Developing the local 
economy to be vibrant with continued growth and Enabling stronger, more independent 
communities. 

 
5.5 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
 
5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.7 Financial  
 
5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing 
 
5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.9 Risk Management  
 
5.9.1 There are a number of potential risks to the delivery of the preferred options document for 

the Local Plan. The key risks are delays in the delivery of the evidence base that informs 
and supports the decisions taken and changes in national policy. 

 
5.9.2 There are potential risks to changes in national policy and revisions to National Planning 

Policy Guidance that the plan must seek to align to. 
 
5.10 Staffing 
 
5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
  
5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 
5.11.1 The first consultation on the issues and options Local Plan took place during November 

2014 and January 2015.  Representations from various key stake holders were received 
during the consultation. It is expected that the next key stage – preferred options 
consultation will take place towards the end of 2015.  

 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All wards in Breckland will be affected by the Local Plan. 

LPWG July 2015 final   

19



LPWG July 2015 final   

 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 Acronyms include:. 
 

a. NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework 
b. PPG: national Planning Practice Guidance  
c. LSC: Local Service Centres  
d. LPWG: Local Plan Working Group  

 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Iain Withington Planning Policy Team Leader  
Telephone Number: (01362) 656205 
Email: Iain.Withington@capita.co.uk 
 
Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting 
Name and Post:  Iain Withington – Planning Policy Team Leader  

  
 
Key Decision:   No  
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix 1 : Spatial Portrait.   
 

20



A Spatial Portrait for Breckland   
 
Spanning over 500 square miles Breckland is a geographically large rural district 
located in the heart of Norfolk. The district is characterised by a dispersed settlement 
pattern of market towns, villages and hamlets. There are five market towns, 21 local 
service centres, and numerous small villages and hamlets. Approximately half the 
current population live in one of the five market towns of Attleborough, Dereham, 
Swaffham, Thetford and Watton with the remaining population dispersed across the 
district. The area is represented through 112 town and parish councils, and the District 
Council.  
 
The population is set to grow from the current 138,233 to 153,313 by 2036 (ONS 
Sub-national population projections 2012-2037). Generally, quality of life is good 
with official crime rates being low and generally decreasing. However there are 
pockets of health and disability related deprivation, notably in some of the Thetford 
wards. Additionally, the average age of Breckland residents is increasing and this 
raises issues for health and the level and distribution of appropriate service provision, 
as well as the economy and housing market.  
 
Thetford, which is Norfolk’s fourth largest settlement, along with Attleborough are 
major towns and key areas for growth. Dereham, Swaffham and Watton are medium 
sized towns, which serve as administration and service centres, but are also a focus for 
retail where they provide a good range of services for day-to-day needs of local 
residents and the rural hinterlands as well as employment. There are a number of 
larger villages in the district which have a range of services, however there are a 
number of rural parishes with very few or no services, including some wards which 
are amongst the most deprived in Norfolk in terms of access to services.  
 
The regional centre of Norwich exerts a sphere of influence over much of the district. 
To a lesser extent the sub-regional centres of King’s Lynn and Bury St. Edmunds 
have a relationship with parts of the west and south of the district respectively. 
Communities in Breckland look primarily to Norwich urban area for employment, 
higher order retail, transport and service provision, such as hospitals. Increasingly, the 
south of the district along with settlements on the A11 corridor, which traverses the 
district connecting Thetford to Attleborough and onwards to Norwich, looks to 
growth and investment emanating from the growth of Norwich and surrounding 
districts as well as from other regional centres, such as Cambridge, Stansted and the 
M11 Corridor. Thetford and Attleborough are keys areas for future housing and 
business growth. Agriculture, advanced engineering and manufacturing logistics 
along with forestry are the dominant business sectors with professional, scientific & 
technical and food processing not far behind. The proportion of B Class jobs (i.e 
offices, industrial and warehousing activities) in the district has remained relatively 
constant over the last 22 years, representing 39% - 46% of all jobs in Breckland. 
Industrial employment remains the majority of B class jobs in the district, although 
office jobs represent an increasing contribution. (Breckland Employment Growth 
Study, 2013) 
 
Given the rural nature and dispersed pattern of settlement, movement in the district is 
primarily by private car. Two trunk road routes run across the district and Breckland’s 
strategic position is emphasised by good road communications offered by the A47 and 

21



A11. The A47 links Dereham and Swaffham with Norwich in the east and King’s 
Lynn in the west and further afield to Peterborough and the motorway network of the 
A1, while the A11 links Attleborough and Thetford with Norwich and the Norwich 
Research Park to the north east and Newmarket, Cambridge and the M11 in the south-
west. Major infrastructure improvements and improved transport links such as the 
completion of the A11 duelling are already attracting new businesses as well as 
enabling existing ones to flourish through increased connectivity. Further 
improvements are planned for the A47 trunk road. Around Norwich outside the 
district major investment programmes are planned such as the Northern Distributor 
Road (NDR), which is set to improve linkages to Norwich international airport, offer 
a quicker and more convenient route for a range of shorter journeys and increase 
access to  existing and planned business and housing areas.  
 
The remaining parts of Breckland are served by a network of non-trunk ”A” category 
roads, secondary and minor roads. Thetford and Attleborough are connected to the 
national rail network with regular services to Norwich and Cambridge, and beyond to 
London, the Midlands and north of England. Rail investment is a regional 
commitment. Public transport services in the district are principally provided by bus 
and focus on linking the district’s market towns with shopping and employment 
destinations at Norwich, King’s Lynn and Bury St. Edmunds. There are more 
infrequent services in the rural areas linking villages with their local town, principally 
on market days. 
 
Wages are relatively low in comparison with the national and regional averages. This 
reflects a low level of qualifications of people in the district and the low level of skills 
required by many of the available jobs. Although there is a high number of people 
living and working in the district, many higher qualified workers are travelling out of 
the district to access higher paid and higher skilled work. 79% of the working age 
population in employment, compared to 76% across the East of England and 72% 
average for Great Britain. Unemployment in the district is very low and has been 
consistently below both the national and county figures. Breckland recorded 50,980 
workforce jobs in 2013 (Breckland Employment Growth Study, November 2013), 
representing an increase of 22.8% from its 1991 level, significantly outpacing growth 
across both the East of England Region(18.7%) and UK (13.9%). Over the period 
1991-2011 jobs growth has been very high at 21.8% compared with a Norfolk average 
of 8.7%. During the recessionary period of 2007 – 2010, Breckland recorded a net 
loss of 2,470 workplace jobs, but since then employment has grown. Jobs growth is 
projected to continue to recover and grow during the plan period, with at least 4,000 
net new jobs forecast for the district up to 2031, (East of England Forecasting Model 
(EEFM) 2013 baseline forecast). 
 
The functional linkages between where people live and work help to define the 
housing market for Breckland which cuts across various local planning authority 
administrative boundaries. The 2015 Strategic Housing Market Assessments, (SHMA, 
2015), identified a three stage Central Norfolk Housing Market Area, (CNHMA),   
concluding that the CNHMA includes significant parts of Breckland, including four 
out of the five market towns. 91% of workers that live in the CNHMA also worked in 
the CNHMA and that 93% of movers currently living in the CNHMA moved from 
another address inside the CNHMA.  
 

22



Typically, local housing market areas are considered to exist in an area with at least 
65% self containment. Many of the settlements in the surrounding areas to Norwich 
and especially those to the west and south west of the district have low levels of self-
containment and are not able to define their own housing market. These settlements 
have wider links throughout the region and are therefore part of the wider CNHMA. 
The extent of the CNHMA demonstrates that it is the most appropriate functional 
housing market for the district to align to.  
 
Breckland is a diverse district for biodiversity, landscape and heritage. It takes its 
name from The Brecks, which is a nationally unique landscape and habitat of sandy 
heath, forest and arable farmland found in the west and south of the district. This 
habitat contains a number of nationally important bird species such as Stone Curlew, 
Woodlark and Nightjar and large swathes of the Brecks are protected by National, and 
European designations. Breckland contains 13% of all SSSIs found in the East of 
England. Elsewhere the character of Breckland is clay farmland, punctuated with 
woodland, occasional river valleys and dispersed settlement. The historic character of 
Breckland's settlements is recognised by 50 separate Conservation Areas and over 
1,500 Listed Buildings. 

Breckland also has an interesting geodiversity, it is an area of lowland glacial 
landscape overlying chalk bedrock. Its special landforms include pingos, patterned 
ground and fluctuating meres. Many of these features are recognised as being of 
regional and national importance. 

The district is one of the driest areas of the country and availability of water resources 
is an issue with the increasing pressure for development. Climate change remains a 
significant challenge. We can expect warmer wetter winters and drier hotter summers; 
reduced water resources and more extreme weather events. 

Breckland’s location means that it is not vulnerable to sea level changes. However, 
many parts of the district have a high clay content and consequently inadequate 
drainage, which can lead to problems of flash flooding. 

The release of greenhouse gases, particularly carbon dioxide, is the main contributing 
factor and human activity is a direct cause. Road traffic is a significant source of 
carbon dioxide, and with the a high level of commuting by car and interdependency 
on higher order centres, Breckland, like many other rural authorities has a high rate of 
commuting to work. 

 

23


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	9 Local Plan Progress
	Appendix 1  A Spatial Portrait for Breckland


